

Electric School Bus





WORKING PAPER

Next stop, access! An exploratory paper on disability rights and justice throughout the transition to electric school buses

Justice Shorter, Valerie Novack, and Alyssa Curran

CONTENTS

Part 1: to Start 1
Part 2: Dedication1
Part 3: Highlights2
Part 4: Summary2
Part 5: Introduction4
Part 6: Background6
Part 7: Transportation & disability laws8
Part 8: The process used to create
this paper9
Part 9: What we found in our research 11
Part 10. Discussion18
Part 11. Recommendations18
Part 12. Final thoughts19
Endnotes21
Acknowledgments 23

Working Papers contain preliminary research, analysis, findings, and recommendations. They are circulated to stimulate timely discussion and critical feedback, and to influence ongoing debate on emerging issues.

Suggested Citation: Shorter, J., V. Novack, and A. Curran. 2024. "Next stop, access! An exploratory paper on disability rights and justice throughout the transition to electric school buses."Working Paper. Washington, DC: World Resources Institute. Available online at doi.org/10.46830/ wriwp.23.00046.

Translated by Julia Wolhandler

PART 1: TO START

What is the Next Stop, Access! Plain Language Version about?

"Next Stop, Access! An Exploratory Paper on Disability Rights and Justice Throughout the Transition to Electric School Buses" is a research paper. This is a Plain Language version of the original paper, which was not written in plain language. The original paper can be found at doi.org/10.46830/ wriwp.23.00046.

A "Before You Read" toolkit helps explain this research paper and gives definitions used in this research paper. The Plain Language version of the "Next Stop, Access! Before You Read" toolkit can be found at doi.org/10.46830/ wriwp.23.00046.

Disability Justice and Environmental Justice are ideas that helped researchers focus the paper on communities most affected by climate change and environmental issues. The Electric School Bus Initiative wants all school buses in the United States to switch from gas buses to electric buses. Electric school buses will create a healthier environment for both children and families. Electric school buses can also help lower the costs of running school buses. Electric school buses should be accessible to everyone.

PART 2: DEDICATION

This research paper honors and is for students and youth with disabilities. Disabled people have died because of inaccessible and unsafe transportation. We hope that you will honor their memory by reading this research paper. We hope that this research paper will help everyone think of new ways to have more safe and equal transportation for people with disabilities. And we hope that this research will create new safe and inclusive transportation practices. This research paper should affect policy makers and decision makers (such as school districts and manufacturers). Policy makers and decision makers must include the needs of diverse students with disabilities when they create electric school buses.

PART 3: HIGHLIGHTS

Below are highlights from the research paper. It shows some of the most important findings from the research.

- Students, young people, parents and interested professionals gave answers to questions about using electric school buses.
- Students and young people said it is important to include students with disabilities and their families in the research.
- Students with disabilities and their families must be included in all decisions for school transportation programs.
- Students and young people said that all school buses need to be accessible.
- People with disabilities need to have equal access to transportation with electric school buses.
- People with disabilities will not have equal access to transportation if electric school buses are not accessible.
- Electric school buses that are not accessible are not safe and create barriers.
- More research is needed about accessible school transportation.

Recommendations include:

- Disabled youth must be included in decisions on electric school buses.
- Put accessibility first.
- Look at current design issues.
- Improve how people follow disability laws.

PART 4: SUMMARY

About this paper

The paper was created because of diverse ideas and needs for using electric school buses. The important needs of people with disabilities in transportation are shared in this paper.

Disability Justice and Environmental Justice helped researchers to focus the paper on communities most affected when using electric school buses.

People with disabilities from diverse backgrounds gave recommendations on how to create accessible electric school buses. They gave recommendations on how people with disabilities can get equal access to electric school buses.

This paper talks about important topics, including:

- The good and bad about switching to electric school buses for students with disabilities
- Available accessible school buses
- Health effects of using electric school buses
- Using school buses for other reasons not related to school
- How location affects people using school buses

Injustices in transportation affect diverse groups of people, today and in the past. This paper recognizes the harm caused to people because of inaccessible transportation. This paper shows the different ways we can make transportation better and more equal. Making sure that everyone can use electric school buses is important.

Who was part of the research?

24 people were part of the research.

Participants included:

- 9 students and other youth
- 3 disability, environmental, and parental advocates
- 2 school bus makers and sellers
- 2 government officials
- 3 school leaders
- 3 lawyers
- 1 researcher
- 1 person from a transit union

Information was collected through:

- Surveys
- Interviews
- Guided conversations
- Public documents

What did the research find?

School transportation programs, currently used, had the following issues:

- Ramps and wheelchair lifts do not always work
- Students feel overwhelmed by strong smells of gas
- Unsafe experiences because of untrained bus drivers and monitors
- Many programs don't follow disability laws
- Sidewalks are too narrow, have no curb cuts (ramps from the sidewalk to cross the road), or block walking paths
- People of color with disabilities are more affected by local air pollution and climate change. Both affects their health, where they live, and how they feel better after disasters
- There is not enough money for schools to support people with disabilities
- Intersectional issues. A person who is part of multiple oppressed or marginalized social categories experiences several types of discrimination and oppression.
 - For example, working parents with disabilities could not attend Parent Teacher Association meetings. The Parent Teacher Association did not make changes that would allow the parents to go.
 - □ Another example was neighborhoods with fewer resources had more air pollution.

What recommendations did participants make?

Participants made many recommendations. Schools and those working in transportation will get the recommendations. We hope that the recommendations will make transportation better for disabled students and their families.

The recommendations are:

- Include youth with disabilities
 - Talking with youth with disabilities should happen before, during, and after the switch to electric school buses.
- Create better accessibility options
 - □ The most important focus should be making electric school buses that can be used by students with disabilities.
 - Accessibility features should be included on all buses that are bought. This means including a wheelchair ramp or lift.
 - Buses should provide more accessibility options than what are used now.
 - Make sure student transportation is accessible to people with disabilities who experience different levels of oppression.
 - $\hfill\square$ Create new ways to solve issues.
 - One example is how to quickly fix a wheelchair ramp or lift that stops working or is not safe.
 - Another example is creating a warning sound or noise for electric school buses. This is because electric vehicles are usually very quiet. A person who is crossing the street and who is blind or low vision might not hear it. Creating a sound for the bus will make it safer.
 - Include Universal Design, which means creating things that are accessible to everyone, with or without a disability.
 - Review policies (rules and guidance) to make sure schools and bus makers follow the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) and the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA).

Make school buses easier for everyone to use

- Create more opportunities for students with disabilities to use electric school buses for different reasons. This will help students with disabilities participate in other fun or educational activities.
- □ Use technology for:
 - Making buses more comfortable
 - Creating better communication
 - Better safety on the bus
- □ Look for other bus uses that will benefit the community

PART 5: INTRODUCTION

This section gives more information about the paper including the Electric School Bus Initiative.

This section talks about:

- The Electric School Bus Initiative
- The money for electric school buses
- Why this paper was created
- Who the Electric School Bus Initiative focuses on
- Who electric school buses affect
- The goals of the research

What is The Electric School Bus Initiative?

The Electric School Bus Initiative wants to change all school buses in the United States from gas buses to electric buses. Their goal is to have this done by 2030. The Electric School Bus Initiative believes that electric school buses will create a healthier environment for both children and families. Using all electric school buses will also help reduce the costs of running school buses.

Where are electric school buses, and who is paying for them?

Many schools in the United States are using electric school buses. Governments support electric school buses with money. The Federal Government gave up to 5 billion dollars to switch to electric school buses through a program called the Clean School Bus Program. In August 2021 there were only 1,000 electric school buses. Now there are many more. In April 2024, there are over 12,000 electric school buses. These 12,000 electric school buses will be used in 49 states, territories and Tribal nations.

Some money for transportation programs will be more equal and fair. For example, some of the money from the government will go to communities that need it most. And some of the money from the government will go to accessible features like wheelchair ramps and lifts. The Electric School Bus Initiative is watching to see if these policies work well.

Why was this paper created?

This paper is part of The Electric School Bus Initiative. We researched how important it is to have equal access and fairness when switching to electric school buses. Another report showed that more research was needed about this.

More research was needed on disability rights and disability justice when moving to electric school buses. That is why this research paper was created. The first step was to collect experiences and recommendations. The next step is to use the recommendations so people with disabilities can use electric school buses.

Who is the Electric School Bus Initiative focused on?

When switching to electric school buses, students and adults with disabilities should be a priority so they can use cleaner transportation. Students with disabilities experience transportation issues because of inaccessibility.

Some school buses do not have ramps or wheelchair lifts. Students and adults with disabilities have to ride separate from other people because not all buses are accessible. For example, students with disabilities ride on special education buses. Special education buses have wheelchair ramps and lifts. And their nondisabled classmates and other students ride on other buses that do not have wheelchair ramps or lifts.

The definition of disability is diverse and includes:

- Physical or mobility disabilities (like arthritis or a spinal cord injury)
- Cognitive or intellectual disabilities (like memory loss or down syndrome)
- Hearing loss or deafness
- Vision loss or blindness

- Deaf-blindness
- Speech or communication disabilities (like stuttering or a person who is nonspeaking)
- Learning disabilities (like dyslexia or attention hyperactivity disorder)
- Mental health or psychiatric disabilities (like depression or anxiety)
- Traumatic brain injuries (an injury to the brain)
- Autism
- Chronic illnesses (like diabetes or cancer)

Wheelchair ramps and lifts are not the only things needed to make a bus accessible. For example, accessibility means that students with disabilities are able to ride on school buses with comfort and without any barriers. Accessibility means students with disabilities are able to use school buses with working equipment, trained bus drivers, monitors and aides.

Accessible school bus features can include:

- Adjustable seats and seatbelts
- Storage spaces
- Temperature control
- Good air flow
- Clear communications through sound and sight
- Reduced stimulation (like noise, vibration, etc.)

Students with disabilities come from diverse backgrounds. Many people have more than one identity. Those identities are combined to make them who they are as a person. Having multiple identities and being part of different social categories can change a person's experiences and opportunities. A person who is part of multiple oppressed or marginalized social categories might experience several types of discrimination and oppression. And they might face different challenges. This is called Intersectionality¹.

Different social categories or identities under intersectionality might include:

- Gender
- Race
- Ethnicity
- Sexual orientation
- Gender identity

- Disability
- Class
- Social status

Schools in the United States have issues with not providing the same types of resources to students. Each school is different. Some schools provide more resources and others do not provide a lot. The amount of resources a school has is often because of the social categories or identities of their students and community.

The difference in the amount of resources that schools have is obvious when switching to electric school buses. One example is a school in Montgomery County, Maryland. In 2021, the Maryland Board of Education promised to make all their buses electric in four years. After about a year, they could not find enough electric school buses to buy. So, they said they would keep buying gas buses but only for students with disabilities in the special education program². The students who go to this school are mostly black, Indigenous, and people of color. Students, parents, and environmental activists protested³. They wanted electric school buses for all the students, including students with disabilities. This is what was promised and was fair and equal.

Who do electric school buses affect?

Switching to electric school buses affects students with disabilities from diverse communities. For example, it affects students with disabilities from rural areas, Tribal lands, and communities with mostly people of color.

These communities often face issues like:

- Using separate school buses
- Poverty
- Having less resources
- More air pollution

What is the goal of the research?

The goal of the research is:

- To share the needs of students with disabilities from diverse communities
- Make recommendations that are fair and equal for students with disabilities using electric school buses

PART 6: BACKGROUND

About 20 million children take the bus to school, in the United States⁴. About 7.3 million children have a disability⁵. Disabled students have only been in public schools for 50 years. Disabled students are in public schools because of the Education for All Children Act (a disability rights law).

Before the Education for All Children Act, and before 1975, students with disabilities were not in the same school as their classmates. They were separate from them. Some students with disabilities did not go to school⁶. Even though the law says students with disabilities must be in the same school as their classmates without disabilities, many students with disabilities still have to take separate buses⁷⁸

Many buses are not accessible because they do not have what people with disabilities need to ride on them.

For example, the buses do not have:

- Wheelchair ramps or lifts
- Areas to keep a wheelchair safe and secure
- Tie-downs to keep a wheelchair from moving
- Trained drivers, monitors, and aides
- And some trained bus drivers, monitors, and aides don't stay in their jobs long^{iv}

What are some accessible features for electric school buses?

Adding a wheelchair lift to an electric school bus is important. Electric school buses are quieter than school buses that use gas. However, quieter buses can be unsafe for people who are blind or low vision⁹. This is because they might not be able to hear them and may not be able to see them.

Many different people need to be included in the decisions for making electric school buses.

This includes:

- Students with disabilities
- Parents of students with disabilities
- Decision makers for school transportation
- Transportation agencies
- Teachers
- Health staff like doctors, nurses, and physical therapists

- Disability advocates
- Environmental advocates

What types of buses do disabled students ride?

Some disabled students ride Type C or Type D school buses with their nondisabled classmates. Type C school buses are the kind of buses most people think of and are more common. Some disabled students ride Type A buses. Type A buses are the smallest school bus and can only carry 10-30 people.

What does the research say?

Research says that disabled students often have longer bus rides because of where they live (where they get picked up). And because there are not enough accessible buses available.

What students are separated in transportation?

Students with disabilities often ride separate from their nondisabled classmates. Other people might also have separate transportation. A person's identity (like race) also affects their access to transportation. Government policies kept some neighborhoods separate from each other. Neighborhoods that have different identities like race and social status are often separate. Some neighborhoods are separated from important resources. These important resources include schools and stores.

An example of a government policy that separated people of different races is called the Federal Housing Administration's redlining policies. The redlining policies were rules that did not let African Americans get money to buy a home¹⁰. Communities in many parts of the United States had rules that said only white people could buy or live in certain areas. A decision in 1948 said these rules were no longer allowed in the United States. But many neighborhoods today still separate people of different races¹¹.

In history, buses have been used to bring students of different races together. An example of a legal decision that said schools can't separate students by race was called Brown v. Board of Education. The decision was made in 1954. The goal was to make access to all schools more fair to all children. But it did not exactly do that. After the decision, many white families moved and sent their children to schools that were mostly white. This created even more separation in neighborhoods and schools¹².

Because of this, a second legal decision was made. This decision said that school buses could be used to send students of different racial backgrounds to schools outside of their neighborhoods. This meant that schools could use buses to mix students from different areas and make schools more equal¹³.

Even after these decisions and laws, many schools in the United States are still separated by race¹⁴. This means that students of color with disabilities are separated in multiple ways because of both race and disability.

How does separation affect students of color with disabilities?

Example One:

Students with disabilities and students of color have longer rides than white and nondisabled students. This means that they are breathing in unsafe air for a long time¹⁵¹⁶. This is because of the gas the buses run on. Children are most affected by unsafe air¹⁷. Unsafe air can cause breathing problems. Millions of children with disabilities in the United States have breathing problems like asthma¹⁸. These children are from families who are mostly Black, American Indian, or Alaskan Native. Some of these families do not have enough money for basic things like food, housing, and clothing ^{xv}.

Example Two:

Longer rides happened in 2022 because there were not enough drivers. More than 1,200 disabled students did not have school transportation. And 350 disabled students had to ride a bus for more than an hour and a half. Students without disabilities only had to ride a bus for 39 minutes¹⁹. Longer rides are connected to not getting good sleep. This can make health issues worse and create new ones²⁰.

Why is using electric school buses better?

Electric school buses are fairer and safer for students with disabilities. And they are fairer and safer for students of color with disabilities from neighborhoods that do not have a lot of resources²¹²². Moving from buses that use gas to electric school buses is better for a person's health. There are children of color, who might have disabilities, already living in areas with unsafe air. Riding on electric school buses can lower the amount of unsafe air they breathe in each day ^{xiii}.

Why did researchers use disability justice and environmental justice?

Disability justice and environmental justice were used in the research on electric school buses. They focus on the importance of accessibility and the environment for people with disabilities. Both Disability and Environmental Justice are ideas that say that diverse communities should make decisions for themselves. And they day that diverse communities should lead the conversations on electric school buses.

Disability Justice and Environmental Justice say that governments should use money to create more safe, fair, and accessible environments.

An example of what the government can do is:

- Fix damage to the environment
- Fix broken sidewalks
- Make sure businesses follow rules to keep the community safe and healthy

Using electric school buses is one example of addressing environmental issues. Electric school buses can give more resources to communities of color, communities living in rural areas, and Tribal Nations. Electric school buses are healthier because they do not use gas. Electric school buses are a safer option for students with disabilities who live in areas with unsafe air and not a lot of resources.

Box 1. Issues with using natural materials

This section talks about the issues with using natural materials to make electric school buses. Using electric school buses is good for children and adults with disabilities. However, some people might be affected in a bad way from electric school buses²³. It is important to talk about these issues.

Natural materials make the batteries in electric vehicles. Natural materials come from the earth. Natural materials are dug up near the land of Indigenous (native) people²⁴. About 85 percent of natural materials that make batteries are from Indigenous land²⁵. It is important that native communities only agree to something after fully understanding all the information about it²⁶.

Laws about getting natural materials from and near Indigenous lands need to include:

- Safe work areas
- Keeping air and water clean
- No harm to food sources or burial grounds
- No harm to sacred or religious areas
- No harm to Indigenous homes, buildings, roads, or other structures

Stories of people who live or work on Indigenous land must be shared. This includes stories of the "Global Majority". Global Majority means people who are racially identified as Indigenous, African, Asian, or Latin American, or belong to other communities of color²⁷.

Indigenous environmental justice activists try to protect the environment, natural materials, and their culture. Indigenous environmental justice activists have shared that they want their land back. They ask companies to stop digging up natural materials that affect Indigenous cemeteries. Digging up natural materials in these areas hurt Indigenous objects, foods, and plants used as medicine²⁸.

The Battery Passport is an idea created by The Global Battery Alliance²⁹. The Battery Passport lets people learn where their batteries come from and how they are made. The goal of the Battery Passport is for batteries to be used in a way that are good for the environment.

The Battery Passport is one example of trying to do good. Electric school buses are another example of trying to do good. But the materials used to make electric school buses can also create issues. People who are most affected, like Indigenous people, need to be included in conversations and decisions.

PART 7: TRANSPORTATION & DISABILITY LAWS

In the United States there are many laws for schools and transportation. In this section we will talk about the laws and how they affect students with disabilities.

Students with disabilities of different ages are protected by different transportation and school laws. Researchers found that many laws and rules are not always followed. We need to look at these laws and how they are used.

What is the Rehabilitation Act of 1973?

Schools that get money from the government must follow a law called the Rehabilitation Act of 1973. There are different parts of the Rehabilitation Act. One part is called Section 504. Section 504 says that federal governments and any program receiving money by the federal government must be accessible to people with disabilities. This means that students with disabilities must be able to use schools and buses³⁰³¹.

What is the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA)?

IDEA says that public education must be available and free to qualified children with disabilities. IDEA says that public schools must provide special education and support services to students with disabilities.

Free transportation for students with disabilities to school must be provided under IDEA³². Education plans or Section 504 plans might include transportation plans³³. The transportation plan might include training on how to get a wheelchair on a bus. And the transportation plan might include having a transportation aide.

Sometimes these laws are not followed. When laws are not followed students with disabilities are treated unfairly.

For example, in 2022, some disabled students in New York did not go on a field trip for school. This was because there were not enough nurses to go with them. The nurses were needed to go with the students who had diabetes. The New York Department of Education did not follow the law³⁴. The students with disabilities should have been included on the field trip.

What is the Federal Motor Vehicles Safety Standards?

The Federal Motor Vehicles Safety Standards makes sure that cars and trucks are safe to drive. This law makes sure that brakes, lights, and other parts of vehicles are safe. For example, it says that a car or bus must be safe for people with disabilities using a wheelchair lift.

Even with laws, it does not mean that every person is safe.

For example, a six-year-old using a wheelchair died because she could not breathe. A seatbelt was used to keep her and her wheelchair from moving around on the bus. When the bus went over bumps in the road, she was not able to breathe because her body shifted and no bus aide came to change her position³⁵.

Why are safe sidewalks important?

Safe sidewalks and crossings to get across the street are needed for disabled students. If a sidewalk is broken or has holes it is unsafe to disabled students. Many cities in the United States have paid millions of dollars to fix unsafe sidewalks because they did not follow the law. The Americans with Disabilities Act, also called the ADA, says that most public places have to be accessible to people with disabilities. This includes sidewalks and street crossings.

What laws and rules are being created for electric school buses?

There are different laws in each State for electric school buses. Laws in Illinois and Washington say that fairness must be included when buying electric school buses in neighborhoods without a lot of resources. In New York, there is a plan to switch to all electric school buses³⁶. As of the spring of 2024 there was not a lot of money to make these buses accessible. More research is needed to decide on the amount of money needed to make the buses accessible.

The researchers asked the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA), the government agency that makes laws and rules to protect the environment, about the Clean School Bus Program. They asked if the Clean School Bus Program follows disability laws.

The response they got back by email said, "It is important to the EPA Clean School Bus (CSB) Program to assist disadvantaged communities and vulnerable populations. Special needs students spend more time in and around school buses, resulting in these students breathing in higher levels of bus exhaust. To help mitigate this issue, EPA will be awarding additional funds for ADA-compliant buses equipped with wheelchair lifts under the 2023 CSB Rebates Program that was launched yesterday (September 28, 2023)."

This means that the EPA believes it is important for the Clean School Bus Program to help diverse communities. The Clean School Bus Program will give more money to make accessible school buses, which could help school districts follow the ADA.

There is some work being done to make electric school buses accessible but not enough. Our research found that most government laws and rules do not require buying and making accessible electric school buses.

PART 8: THE PROCESS USED TO CREATE THIS PAPER

This section will talk about the process the researchers used to write this paper. If you would like to see the research questions that were used, visit Appendix B in the original document at https://doi.org/10.46830/wriwp.23.00046. The researchers of this paper included Indigenous and Black feminist research processes³⁷³⁸.

The goal of this type of research process is to:

- Add new information and stories
- Include more diverse groups of people and diverse ways of sharing knowledge
- Practice care for the research topics and research participants
- Make changes that help diverse communities

The stories and histories of Indigenous and Black communities are not always included in research. We included their voices and stories in this paper. People with disabilities are not always included in research, similar to Indigenous and Black Communities. We also included their voices and stories in this paper.

Disability Justice and Environmental Justice were used as a research process. Both disability and environmental justice are ideas that say diverse communities should make decisions for themselves. And they say diverse communities should lead conversations on electric school buses.

This paper is only a beginning look at how electric school buses affect disabled students. Disabled students shared what is important to them and what their needs are. This paper shares that information.

How did we do our research?

Research was collected through:

- Gray literature (for example, reports and government documents)
- Conversations between researchers and participants (like students with disabilities and parents)
- Online surveys
- Reading legal cases
- Reading public comments

How did we do interviews?

Researchers did interviews through Zoom. The interviews were between 45 minutes and an hour. Follow-up questions were asked after the participant gave an answer to the original question. Researchers asked participants to create additional research questions. This helped find new ways to look at the information and learn more about things we didn't know.

How did we do surveys?

An online survey was used through Google. Two surveys were used. One survey was for students and young adults. The second survey was for parents and professionals. 6 surveys were completed.

How did we have a group discussion?

The group discussion with youth was on Zoom. The conversation was 1.5 hours long. The conversation was with 6 students and other children. The conversation was about the good and bad of using electric school buses for people with disabilities.

How did we find legal cases and public comments?

Researchers looked for stories about buses and people with disabilities. Researchers also searched for different words to try and find legal cases and public comments. The words were searched on different federal government's websites.

The words included:

- Disability
- Special Education
- School Bus
- Transportation

Who was included in the research?

Participants came from several organizations. Researchers reached out to 70 different organizations.

The groups included:

- Advocacy organizations (for example, disability-led organizations and organizations interested in switching to electric school buses)
- Government departments involved in school transport
- Law organizations working on environmental and disability issues
- Bus makers and sellers (for example, bus companies most used by schools)
- Medical research centers (for example, hospitals that do research on health and disability)
- Membership organizations (with interests in health, transportation, disability, education and the environment)
 - Parents, students, and young people were contacted through these membership organizations
- Schools in different areas
- Transportation unions

Participants were grouped either as "students or other young people" or "parents and professionals."

24 people were part of the research. Appendix A has more details. To access Appendix A visit to the original research paper at https://doi.org/10.46830/wriwp.23.00046.

The participants were:

- 9 students and other young people
- 15 parents and professionals

There was only a small amount of money available for research. The participant group was smaller because of this. Participants were offered money. The offer was \$50 for completing surveys and \$100 for interviews or discussions.

To see the guide and questions used for interviews, surveys, and discussions, you can visit Appendixes D (Student Survey) and E (Parents and Professional Survey) in the original research paper at https://doi.org/10.46830/wriwp.23.00046.

Limits to the research

Research happened in the summer of 2023. This was an issue because of school summer break. It was hard to do conversations with teachers, parents, and others interested because they were on summer break. The sample size did not include all people affected by the switch to electric school buses.

There is not enough information on disabled students and accessible electric school buses. Schools, bus makers, and bus sellers do not have information on the number of accessible electric school buses. They only say that electric school buses can be made accessible.

PART 9: WHAT WE FOUND IN OUR RESEARCH

This section will be divided into smaller sections. Participant's thoughts and ideas about accessible electric school buses will be shared in these smaller sections. We will share what participants said in the smaller sections.

The smaller sections will go in this order:

- 1. Inclusion, challenges, and ways to make things better
- 2. The environment, sidewalks, roads, and different experiences
- 3. Accessible transportation and technology issues
- 4. Effects on education
- 5. Making accessibility better
- 6. New opportunities and other ways to use the bus

1. Inclusion, challenges, and ways to make things better

One young participant said in a survey, "Please don't wait to think of marginalized folks until the last minute! Everyone deserves to have access to transportation. Electric buses need to accommodate everybody."

This means people from diverse backgrounds should always be included in conversations about transportation. Everyone should be able to use transportation. Electric school buses need to be accessible.

Young participants said that they are not currently included in making decisions. Students and families with disabilities said that they are not included in discussions on accessible transportation and programs. They said it feels like making accessible buses for disabled students is a choice instead of a requirement. Another young participant said in a survey, "Have advisory groups with disabled students and adults, and actually include that group in decision making or require their stamp of approval.Consistently asking, 'Is this as accessible as possible?' and/or 'How are disabled people affected by this decision?' throughout the process would also help. Ensuring accessible school buses are transitioned to electric at the same rate or better compared to regular school buses is important."

This means that there should be groups of disabled students and adults to make decisions. These groups should be given the chance to talk about the different types of accessible school buses. These groups should approve decisions about accessible buses.

Thoughts from students and other young participants

- Think about the needs of disabled students when creating buses and planning transportation
- Include disabled students in decision making and as testers
- Talk to disabled students about their needs
- Create student committees and decision-making groups
 - □ Give equal votes to young people and explain the process of meetings
 - □ Make sure meetings are accessible
 - □ Have more than one young person in the group
 - □ Include students with disabilities from diverse backgrounds are in the group
- Keep talking to students and families during and after switching to electric school buses
- Ask for ideas from students and their families about transportation. This should be done through meetings and group conversations
- Make sure every bus is accessible

Thoughts from parents, professionals and advocates

- Education Plans for students with disabilities must include transportation information. People working with disabled students, for example teachers and aides, should have access to their transportation needs/information.
- All buses should be accessible to all students

2. The environment, sidewalks, roads, and different experiences

One young participant said in a survey, "I wonder about energy efficiency with bus routing for students in the more rural parts of the district...I worry about pushback on [bus electrification] and taking climate action even though our community has been affected by the impacts of climate change already [and] inequitable transitioning of buses across the district and state."

This means that the participant is worried about how well we're using energy for school buses, especially for buses that travel in rural areas. The participant is worried that people might resist switching to electric buses and other important changes for the environment. And the participant is worried about the switch to electric buses in different areas being unfair.

Young participants talked about accessibility issues. They talked about the issues of the environment, sidewalks and roads in communities of color, and communities without a lot of resources. These same communities have unsafe air. And they do not have many options for transportation. These communities do not have equal access to resources. These communities are not treated fairly.

One student said during a group discussion, "The transition to electric school buses is so important when we think of climate crisis and the effect of the climate crisis on students with disabilities".

Students and other young participants shared their experiences. They explained that people living in cities and rural areas without resources have related issues. Some issues include unsafe or missing sidewalks and roads. Participants also talked about emergency plans. They shared concerns about emergency transportation plans that don't fully include disabled students. Many parents work long hours and have more than one job. Participants worried about their parents not being able to go to Parent Teacher Association meetings. Parent Teacher Association meetings talk about ways to improve school related issues for students. They shared that these meetings should offer reasonable accommodations for disabled parents and offer different times for parents from diverse communities to participate.

Young people were concerned that people from areas with more resources might get electric school buses before people from areas that need the buses most. Communities with few resources may also feel they have to accept any type of transportation given to them. Even if that means it is an old bus that uses gas³⁹. A lawyer from the Native American Disability Law Center said, "Many of the roads on the Navajo nation are unpaved. And so, families will get down to a central meeting place because it's paved and the school bus doesn't have to go off of the main highways. Because if it rains or it's snowy, these unpaved roads can get very muddy. I've had clients who have missed a week of school because the family truck just cannot get out of the property. We've had issues where people who use wheelchairs are essentially not able to get out of their homes and get down to the school bus. And so, kids are missing school."

Another issue was found for students and families who live without houses. Buses do not go to students who live without housing. Students who live in a shelter or a short-term location might not be able to get to school.

One participant shared information about families that moved to Hawai'i from Micronesia. Families moved to Hawai'i for a better life. They wanted to find more work opportunities and a home for their family in Hawai'i. Because of discrimination, government decisions, and a lack of money, many people ended up without housing⁴⁰.

Some schools are trying to help. The schools trying to help bought vans to pick up students without housing. It has helped a little bit but doesn't fix the problem. Many disabled people are more likely to be without housing for a long time. Disabled people make up about one-third (31 percent) of all homeless individuals in 2023⁴¹.

Another issue is that electric school buses are heavy. Because they are heavy, they can damage the road. Holes and cracks in the road can be unsafe for disabled students. Gas buses that are turned on but not moving can be unsafe for disabled students. This is because disabled students are breathing in more fumes while they are waiting for the wheelchair lift. This is unsafe for students and adults who have breathing disabilities.

Two big problems that were found are:

- 1. Health problems caused by buses that use gas
- 2. Switching to electric school buses is expensive

A representative from a school bus maker called Blue Bird said, "There is a challenge related to the range of an electric school bus that can limit its usability in rural or Tribal areas that have longer routes. In addition, the charging infrastructure can be very costly to install. Many school bus facilities do not have the available power to install chargers, which can require costly upgrades from the local utility."

This means that:

- Electric vehicles do not have enough battery for long trips (for example in rural and Tribal areas)
- The cost to charge a battery is expensive
- Some schools do not have enough power to charge the battery

Thoughts from all participants

- The environment changing affects people with disabilities. And it affects people of color with disabilities more
- When a bus stops working there are not safe emergency plans for students with disabilities
- Areas that have more resources will get more electric school buses and faster. Areas with less resources will not switch to electric school buses as fast
- Areas with less resources have less transportation. Especially in communities of color
- Disabled parents and parents with different work schedules often cannot attend Parent Teacher Association Meetings.
 Parent Teacher Association Meetings do not always provide support so that disabled parents can go to the meetings.
- Sidewalks and roads in rural areas are unsafe or sometimes missing. Especially in communities with people who come from another country.
- There is unsafe air in neighborhoods with less resources

Thoughts from parents, professionals, and advocates

Students without housing have few transportation options

3. Accessible transportation and technology issues

During a group discussion, one student said, "Just because something is not broken, does not mean it is accessible." This means that just because something works fine doesn't mean it's easy for everyone to use. Buses using gas have issues with accessibility. They are old and the wheelchair lifts do not always work. Some students using wheelchairs have to get on the lift backwards. This is hard to do for some students who have less use of their hands, or have vision and hearing disabilities. Bad weather like rain and ice make it hard too. One student said they experience issues with the wheelchair lift three times a week.

Some examples of accessibility issues are:

- Broken wheelchair lifts
- Broken seatbelts that are supposed to keep wheelchairs in place
- Longer wait time to get on and off a bus. This can be because of budget cuts or untrained bus drivers and aides

Participants said these issues need to be worked on when switching to electric school buses. Drivers, aides, and caregivers need to be included in the access plans for electric school buses.

Drivers can develop back injuries and other physical health issues because buses with gas shake a lot. One person from the Transit Union said, "Electric buses offer a smoother and less bumpy ride for everyone, including bus drivers. Improvements such as these can contribute to better work conditions for drivers and will ideally lead to greater availability of skilled drivers [and] mechanics. Back injuries for bus drivers and truck drivers are incredibly high. It's because of how buses and trucks are designed. They don't have to be that way. If buses were made to work better for bus operators, people would stick around in those jobs longer, and you wouldn't have as many staffing shortages. You wouldn't have people calling out sick as often or going on as much leave."

This means that using electric school buses will:

- Provide more comfortable rides for both the rider and driver
- Provide drivers with a safer work environment
- Allow more bus drivers to stay in their job
- Allow less bus drivers to be sick or get hurt

The person from Transit Union said, "Inaccessibility for school buses is also when buses don't show up. The number one reason for that is because they don't have a bus operator, or maybe a monitor. They [schools] can't send the bus out. And some of that, of course, is the ability to attract and retain skilled mechanics. There needs to be training also for maintenance staff to make sure that they know what they're doing when it comes to wheelchair lifts and battery electric buses when districts transition." This means that school buses can also be inaccessible because of:

- The lack of available drivers
- The lack of trained workers who know how to fix a bus. Training needs to include how to fix wheelchair lifts and how to charge an electric school bus

One person from a school said, "In our district, our goal was to target routes that transport students with disabilities. However, I was informed that we needed to purchase the bigger buses. Typically, we transport students with disabilities in smaller buses. I wonder if there's a way to strategically indicate the need to allocate some of those resources to transport the disabled students. I also see it from the lens of retention. If we have nice buses, our drivers will be incentivized to stay within our district. Therefore, we will have the available resources to ensure we can meet the needs of our district."

This means that the school representative needs to buy bigger buses to be able to better transport students with disabilities. Smaller buses are currently used for students with disabilities. Bus drivers might stay in the job longer, if they can drive better and larger buses.

When this paper was written, it was unclear how many electric school buses are being provided for all bus types. Builders of electric buses were unable to share how many accessible electric buses they have sold to schools across the country. More information is needed about this.

One parent and disability justice advocate said, "Students of color with disabilities and/or disabled students who are lowincome or in geographically low-resourced areas, often reside in school districts with limited funds and as such, are less likely to be in a position to be early adopters of bus electrification. They might face a shortage of bus drivers and might have to contend with an already aging fleet of buses. They are also more likely to encounter bus sharing as well. The public might have safety fears or concerns due to limited familiarity with bus electrification. For decision-makers, cost could be a concern, even though in the long run this will be a worthwhile investment that is better for the environment and cost-effective. But because there will need to be sufficient investment of initial and ongoing resources to make things happen, the high short-term costs could be a deterrent."

This means that students of color with disabilities, or those who are low-income and live in areas with less resources, often attend schools with tight budgets. Because of having less resources, they may not be able to switch to electric buses as quickly. Some of the issues students of color with disabilities might have are:

- Not having enough bus drivers
- Having older buses
- Sharing the buses with others

This also means that there might be safety concerns from the public because of a lack of experience with electric buses. For decision-makers, the cost of electric buses could be a problem, even though, over time, they will save money and be better for the environment. The high cost in the beginning might make it hard to get started.

One person from a New York Lawyers group said, "We found that in some cases you have hundreds of diesels and gasoline school buses clustered together. And they are in the same environmental justice communities where other pollution sources are also concentrated.... Our policy push has been for the city and the state not just to mandate, as they have, an allelectric bus fleet by 2035 but to prioritize getting electrification to happen first in disadvantaged communities that are most impacted by the current polluting school bus fleet and other pollution sources."

This means that the lawyer's group has a policy to focus on communities with less resources first. Their policy asks the government to have both all electric buses by 2035 and electric buses available in communities with less resources first. These communities are most affected by buses with gas and unsafe air. Participants support this and said this should be a "priority without penalty."

Priority without penalty means giving top attention to communities with less resources without any negative side effects. But being the first to use and test new technology can be expensive and take a lot of time. Sometimes new technology costs more in the beginning. Sometimes new technology has issues that are fixed later⁴².

Being first also sometimes means feeling pressured to do everything perfectly. The participants shared a concern that governments might not put low resourced communities first in the future if electric school bus transition plans are not perfectly completed now. This high expectation is unfair to communities without the needed support to succeed.

Box 2. Paratransit

What is paratransit? Paratransit is transportation for people with disabilities. Accessible vehicles most of the time do a door-to-door pick up. Paratransit vehicles can be vans with wheelchair lifts or taxis.

The ADA, a law, requires transportation organizations to provide paratransit as another transportation option⁴³.

Sometimes paratransit is used for students with disabilities. This happens when public buses and school buses are not accessible.

Some of the issues with paratransit are⁴⁴:

- A long wait time for pick up
- It can only be provided if there is money for it from the government
- No rides are available in some rural and tribal areas

Thoughts from students and other young participants

- Wheelchair ramps and lifts are sometimes broken and unsafe
- Not enough room for multiple wheelchairs on the bus
- Too much stimulation (for example, noise and smells from gas). This can create migraines, anxiety, and breathing issues
- Untrained bus workers can make riding the bus unsafe

Thoughts from parents, professionals, and advocates

- Disabled students' needs must be put first when switching to new technology
- Concerns about how much the transition will cost
- Concerns about low resourced communities not receiving the support needed to use the new electric school bus technologies
- Making sure the workplace is safe and good for the bus driver
- Gas buses still have many issues with accessibility
- Issues with the current sidewalk and road
- Buses must include easy-to-understand information for everyone

- Buses must include universal design (Creating things that are accessible to everyone, with or without a disability). Some examples might be:
 - \Box The material on seats
 - □ Spaces for wheelchairs
 - □ Temperature control
 - Good air flow
 - □ Good lighting
 - Quieter spaces

4. Effects on education

A lawyer from the Native American Disability Law Center said, "Some students require door-to-door transportation. And [they] are legally entitled to transportation as a related service and any of the other accommodations needed to be transported. I've had clients who feel like they're at the bottom of the list because the general education students are typically transported first, and then maybe the students with disabilities arrive at school an hour or two later."

This means that some students need the bus to pick them up and drop them off outside of their home and at school. Students with disabilities have a right to this type of transportation and other accommodations they might need. Many students with disabilities feel like students without disabilities get to ride the bus first. This means that students with disabilities might be late to school. Sometime students with disabilities are late by an hour or two hours.

Youth participants talked about the effects on their education because of transportation that is not accessible. Youth participants asked school officials (like principles), not to punish students for being late because of bus issues. Youth participants said during a group discussion, "No one should be punished for being late or missing class due to failure of transportation." Bus issues like being late or not getting to school can mean students miss out on learning.

Participants asked for updates to policies for switching to electric school buses. Schools should find other solutions for students who are late because of bus issues.

Thoughts from all participants

- Schools should find ways to help students catch up in school. Examples of how schools can provide more support:
 - □ Start school at a later time to accommodate transportation schedules
 - □ Support summer school
 - □ Support winter sessions
 - □ Support after-school tutors
- Schools should find a way to fix late attendance records. These records can affect a student's opportunities with colleges and jobs. Late attendance records because of bus issues are not the student's fault.
- School schedules for activities and trips should be changed based on the needs of bus drivers and students

5. Making accessibility better

One youth participant said, "Just like Walt Disney World buses, every bus should have a wheelchair ramp. What makes a bus comfortable is being close to peers. It is uncomfortable having to be stuck in the back of the bus. Another good design would be to have an accessible area in the center of the bus so there are a variety of areas for friends to sit near you."

Students, parents, professionals, and advocates shared a lot of ideas for making school buses better. They recommended changes on how buses are designed and how schools manage their bus services. Many participants recognize that money is an important part of the switch. Schools need more money to update their buses. Bus makers need more money to make buses more accessible.

Another youth participant said in a survey, "My accessibility dream would be for electric school buses to be designed similarly to public transit buses. As a kid, I always wanted to ride the bus with all the nondisabled kids as opposed to being segregated to an accessible bus. I do absolutely understand that some students need that separate bus in a more directly supportive environment, but it seems like school buses should be able to be made inclusive, especially as they're already being designed differently to be electric."

This means that the youth participant shared a hope for disabled students to always have the option to ride on the same bus as everyone else. And not have to ride on a separate school bus just because they are disabled. This youth participant understands that some students with disabilities might need a separate bus. This is because more one-on-one support might be needed. Electric school buses can be made and used by everyone if they are accessible.

Thoughts from students and other youth participants

- Bus makers need to create more accessibility features. That doesn't just mean wheelchair ramps and lifts. Some examples can be:
 - □ Different options for seat material
 - Different areas on the bus for multiple wheelchairs
 - □ Temperature control
 - $\hfill\square$ Good air flow
 - \square Good lighting
 - Better seatbelt material
- Seats that can change temperature between warm and cold. This is helpful for students who cannot control their body temperature
- Multiple wheelchair tie-down areas. A school bus that can have more than 12 riders should have multiple areas to keep a wheelchair from moving around
- Openings on the roof need to be bigger. During emergencies, a bigger opening will help get all students out. The bigger opening will also help get medical equipment in and out of the bus
- More accessible ways to get on the bus. Students with disabilities who have a hard time using both the wheelchair lift and steep stairs need a safer and more accessible way to get on and off the bus
- Visual and spoken announcements for stops or important school updates
- A fast plan to fix broken wheelchair lifts and ramps
- A safety plan for students with disabilities if their bus stops working. It is not safe for students to be carried off by bus workers. It is not safe if students who have to leave their wheelchairs or mobility devices on the bus.
- A safety plan for switching from a broken bus to a working bus
- Meetings between students with disabilities and the designers of electric school buses
- Testing new designs with students with disabilities

 All school buses should follow disability and transportation laws

Thoughts from parents, professionals, and advocates

- Schools need to update their transportation policies for students with disabilities. If harmful policies do not change, the same transportation barriers will happen with electric school buses
- Schools must follow laws like the ADA and IDEA
- Schools need to fix unsafe practices and issues that happen because of untrained bus drivers and monitors
- Bus makers need to create more accessible options for students with disabilities
- There should be more Type D buses with wheelchairs ramps. All students can use the same door to enter the bus on Type D buses
- Bus aisles should be bigger to give more room for students with different body sizes and assistive devices
- Add air filters to fossil fuel buses. Air filters will help students who have weak immune systems. Air filters will help students who are sensitive to fumes
- Put handrails on all school buses. Handrails will help students be safer
- Create phone apps for students and parents to track where a school bus is. The phone apps could also allow students and parents to talk to drivers or dispatchers
- Create a quieter space. Provide noise-canceling headphones or something similar for diesel gasbuses that haven't been switched out for electric buses

6. New opportunities and other ways to use the bus

A youth participant said in a survey, "It would be amazing if accessible electric buses could also provide transportation options for disabled people outside of getting students to school, especially in communities without public transportation. Many disabled people can't get to medical appointments, errands, work, or social events without relying on friends or family because there's no public transportation." Participants shared that accessible electric school buses can be used for many things, not just for transportation to school. Accessible electric buses can help students with disabilities and their families be able to do other activities.

Some examples of other ways to use accessible electric school buses are:

- A safe place during severe weather and storms
- A moving library

However, a professional participant was worried and said, "taking buses away from the central mission of transporting students could create problems...those problems mostly fall on people with disabilities or parents with students with disabilities."

This means that the professional participant is worried about using the buses for other activities. They're worried because there are already issues with getting students with disabilities to school. So, the participant explained that the main goal is to first use the buses to bring students with disabilities to school. There is also concern about the small amount of bus workers. Many bus workers do not get paid enough for working past their regular hours. Many bus workers do not have worker protections. More money and worker protections provided to bus drivers and monitors when switching to electric school buses might fix this issue. And it might help with being able to use the buses for activities not related to school.

Student participants want better accessibility on the buses. Student participants also want more accessible buses so that students with disabilities are not separate from other students. One participant from a disability rights and justice group said, "Do NOT separate us"⁴⁵. When students with disabilities are separated they can feel alone.

What do students and other youth participants want from electric school buses?

- Getting to activities outside of school
- More resources for families to go to school and community events
- Work opportunities and trainings. Disabled people get unfair treatment when trying to find a job. Transportation to work opportunities and trainings can help disabled people get a job
- Transportation to activities like festivals, parks, and movies
- Transportation to libraries, community centers, college tours, and field trips

 Making accessible electric school buses a priority for public community transportation. Private transportation is not always accessible. Private transportation can be expensive

What do parents, professionals, and advocates want from electric school buses?

- To be used as heating and cooling centers during severe weather and storms
- To be used as mobile health clinics
- Better accessible emergency plans during a disaster
- To be used as a charging station when the power goes out. It can be used to provide power to wheelchairs and other assistive devices
- Transportation to community gatherings
- Getting to areas for learning and working together
- Providing Wi-fi in areas that do not have good internet
- To be used as a mobile library
- Public transportation in rural areas when school buses are not being used for school
- Accessible transportation to camps, sports events and practices, theater rehearsals and shows

PART 10. DISCUSSION

Everyone interested in switching to electric school buses must know the needs of students and bus workers. Knowing the needs of students and bus workers makes transportation safer for everyone.

Students with disabilities can experience a more comfortable and quieter bus ride. An example from West Virginia confirmed that bus drivers and students talk more easily because electric buses don't have loud diesel engines⁴⁶. Quieter buses can mean less sensory overload.

More bus drivers, bus workers, and aides will likely stay in their job if given:

- Better training
- Better healthcare
- Better options for taking vacation and being out sick
- Equal pay
- Better working environments
- More charging areas for electric school buses

- Better accessible charging areas for electric school buses. Some examples might be:
 - □ The battery charger has a clear space on the floor or ground
 - Raised parts to feel, spoken directions, or audio explanations⁴⁷

Echo Exposure is a phrase that the researchers created. Echo Exposure means old school buses have unsafe chemicals that affect communities and not just students. Old school buses will no longer transport students to school. But, these school buses may now be used for other activities in the community or in other countries. We ask that the government track these buses to make sure old school buses are not continuing to be used. For example, they should research if old school buses are used by nursing homes, churches, or community centers that have a lot of disabled people. Old school buses used in these places are unsafe for the community. These communities are breathing in unsafe air because of the gas.

It is important to ask if the old school buses will be sold or given to countries that do not have as many resources. If the answer is yes, this means that they will have unsafe and unhealthy buses. Passing on the problem is not the same as making things better or fairer for everyone. 31 out of 89 programs that give money for electric school buses have recycling requirements⁴⁸.

Students and other youth with disabilities who ride older school buses with gas to and from day programs must be included in switching to electric school buses.

People with disabilities must have good options to live in their communities.

People in jail, prison, and other facilities must have safe and accessible transportation.

PART 11. RECOMMENDATIONS

In this section we will share recommendations from students, parents, and professionals. These recommendations are for different groups of people.

The different groups of people include:

- Anyone with interests in electric school buses
- School and transportation decision makers
- Bus makers
- People who make policies

These recommendations talk about the switch to electric school buses. Switching to electric school buses must include the needs and rights of disabled students and adults. This section will be divided into two smaller sections.

The two smaller sections will go in this order:

- 1. Involve Young People with Disabilities in The Switch
- 2. New Electric School Buses Must Be More Accessible Than Older Buses with Gas

1. Involve young people with disabilities in the switch

Recommendations for anyone with interests in electric school buses

- Ask students with disabilities for their ideas on electric school buses.
- Reach out to students with disabilities and their families first.
 Do not wait for them to reach out first.
- Host conversations through meetings, surveys, and discussion groups. Conversations should happen during all parts of the switch to electric school buses.
- Create different ways for people to share their opinions.
- Include students with disabilities on all committees. Have more than one young person on the committees.
- Create rules and a process for meetings that include everyone.

New electric school buses must be more accessible than older buses with gas

Recommendations by participants

- Disabled students' needs must be included in advocating for, making, getting, and giving electric school buses
- Students and adults with disabilities should have opportunities to help lead advocacy efforts
- Make sure student transportation is accessible to people with disabilities who experience different levels of oppression
- Figure out the cost of making these recommendations real. Figure out the cost of making transportation accessible to everyone

Recommendations for school and transportation decision makers

- Make buses used by students with disabilities a priority
- Include accessibility features on every bus. For example, include a wheelchair ramp or lift
- Fix current issues on buses. For example, fix wheelchair lifts that do not work well and are not safe for students, bus drivers, and monitors
- Make sure bus drivers and monitors are trained and have worker protections
- Provide other types of accessible transportation
- Use electric school buses for other reasons. For example, as a mobile library, battery charger, and a way to get people out during an emergency

Recommendations for bus makers

- Create new ways for disabled students to get what they need
- Show the different ways that new buses can work for everyone
- Fix current issues on buses. For example, fix wheelchair lifts that do not work well and are not safe for students, bus drivers, and monitors
- Create ways to alert people with vision disabilities that there is a quiet bus there
- Include Universal Design in everything. This means making designs that are accessible to everyone.

Recommendations for people who make policies

- Make sure schools follow laws like the ADA and IDEA. Do this before there are issues that come up
- Encourage schools to switch the buses used by students with disabilities first
- Encourage schools to have more accessible buses
- Give attention and money to those requesting accessible electric school buses first
- Give extra money to schools that are buying accessible electric school buses

PART 12. FINAL THOUGHTS

This paper explains how students and adults with disabilities are affected by electric school buses.

Participants shared their experiences about using current school buses. Participants talked about how current transportation is unfair and not equal. Participants shared ideas for making future transportation with electric school buses fair and equal.

The research shows important findings. Disabled students and adults experience issues with the environment, sidewalks, roads, and accessibility. The recommendations show good ways to fix these issues. And to make transportation more accessible.

One important recommendation is that all transportation should be accessible.

People interested in transportation (for example, bus makers and sellers, governments, and policy makers) can do the following:

- Make sure disability laws are followed
- Include people with disabilities in decisions

More research is needed. Research in the future should include:

- Knowing how much everything costs, and not just cutting accessibility because costs are higher
- The importance of making many accessible electric school buses

Students with disabilities should be included on any team that makes decisions.

These teams include:

- Design
- Planning
- Policy
- Checking and Reviewing

All of the following can be possible:

- Students can use any bus
- Bus drivers work in safe environments
- Bus drivers and monitors having good healthcare and time to take days off
- Community-based solutions to the damage caused by a lack of government resources

• Everyone follows disability laws during the switch to electric school buses

There are many possibilities if we use environmental and disability justice goals when we switch to electric school buses.

Electric school buses help reduce pollution and health issues. Communities with less resources need to have access to electric school buses. More money is needed to provide equal and fair resources. Leaders from diverse communities are needed to help make decisions. Everyone involved in switching to electric school buses should work to make these changes a reality.

Disabilities are sometimes used as an easy reason to ignore someone's needs. Not enough money is sometimes used as a reason for why things don't happen. But communities of color and those with less resources put their safety at risk. They have to wait longer for help. They succeed without enough support. And they sometimes have to accept unsafe environmental conditions. All of this is not fair or equal. We need to recognize and fix this. Fixing these issues will help with how we make decisions in the future.

Students, parents, caregivers, advocates, educators, drivers, monitors, policymakers, bus makers, and other professionals are important in the switch to accessible electric school buses. Everyone has an important part in getting fair and accessible electric school buses.

Students and other young people with disabilities have creative ideas. Their worries come from real-life experiences on and off school buses. Students and other young people are an important part in making real changes. Students and other young people are the leaders we need to make these changes.

Students and other young people, as leaders, can help make these things happen:

- All riders can get on and off a bus with no issues
- All riders will have a comfortable ride
- All riders will be safe on the electric school bus

ENDNOTES

- Crenshaw, K. 1989. "Demarginalizing the Intersection of Race and Sex: A Black Feminist Critique of Antidiscrimination Doctrine, Feminist Theory and Antiracist Politics." University of Chicago Legal Forum, no. 1. https://chicagounbound.uchicago.edu/cgi/ viewcontent.cgi?article=1052&context=uclf.
- Ramirez, S. 2022. "Parents Concerned over \$9.7 Million MCPS Emergency School Bus Purchase." FOX 5 DC, August 22. https:// www.fox5dc.com/news/parents-concerned-over-9-7-millionmcps-emergency-school-bus-purchase.
- Griffin, E. 2023. "Protestors Rally for Electric Buses at School Board Offices." *MoCo360*, November 3. https://moco360. media/2023/11/02/protestors-rally-for-electric-buses-at-schoolboard-offices/.
- School Bus Fleet. 2020. "2021 FACT BOOK: Pupil Transportation by the Numbers." School Bus Fleet Magazine 66 (11). https://schoolbusfleet.mydigitalpublication.com/publication/?i=696373&p=1&p p=1&view=issueViewer.
- Schaeffer, K. 2023. "What Federal Education Data Shows about Students with Disabilities in the U.S." Pew Research Center, July 24. https://www.pewresearch.org/short-reads/2023/07/24/whatfederal-education-data-shows-about-students-with-disabilitiesin-the-us/.
- 6. Dudley-Marling, C., and M.B. Burns. 2014. "Two Perspectives on Inclusion in the United States." *Global Education Review* 1 (1): 14–31.
- Howley, C. 2001. "The Rural School Bus Ride in Five States: A Report to the Rural School and Community Trust." August 20. Athens: ERIC Clearinghouse on Rural Education and Small Schools and Ohio University. http://oak.cats.ohiou.edu/~howleyc/howleyc. htm.
- 8. Ross, T., P. Bilas, R. Buliung, and A. El-Geneidy. 2020. "A Scoping Review of Accessible Student Transport Services for Children with Disabilities." *Transport Policy* 95 (June 5) : 57–67. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.tranpol.2020.06.002.
- 9. BraunAbility. 2023. "Can Zero Emission Bus Public Transportation Accommodate Wheelchairs?" https://www.braunability.com/us/ en/commercial/white-papers/zero-emission-bus-zeb.html.
- 10. Rothstein, R. 2018. The Color of Law. New York: Liveright.
- Mattke, R., K. Delegard, and D. Leebaw. 2022. "Mapping Prejudice: The Map Library as a Hub for Community Co-creation and Social Change." *Journal of Map and Geography Libraries* 18 (1–2): 1–21.
- 12. Logan, J.R., W. Zhang, and D. Oakley. 2017. "Court Orders, White Flight, and School District Segregation, 1970–2010." *Social Forces* 95: 1049–75.
- 13. SCOTUS (Supreme Court of the United States). 1971. "Swann v. Charlotte-Mecklenburg Board of Education, 402 U.S. 1." *Justia Law.* https://supreme.justia.com/cases/federal/us/402/1/.

- GAO (Government Accountability Office). 2022. "K-12 Education: Student Population Has Significantly Diversified, but Many Schools Remain Divided along Racial, Ethnic, and Economic Lines." August 30. https://www.gao.gov/products/gao-22-104737.
- Cordes, S.A., C. Rick, and A.E. Schwartz. 2022. "Can School Buses Improve Access for Students without Driving Down Academic Outcomes?" Brookings, June 22. https://www.brookings.edu/ articles/can-school-buses-improve-access-for-students-withoutdriving-down-academic-outcomes/.
- FHWA (Federal Highway Administration). 2017. 2017 National Household Travel Survey. Washington, DC: US Department of Transportation. https://nhts.ornl.gov.
- 17. Liu, N.M., and J. Grigg. 2018. "Diesel, Children and Respiratory Disease." *BMJ Paediatrics Open* 2 (1): e000210. doi:10.1136/bm-jpo-2017-000210.
- CDC NCEH (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention's National Center for Environmental Health). 2023. "Most Recent National Asthma Data: CDC." May 10. https://www.cdc.gov/asthma/ most_recent_national_asthma_data.htm.
- Peña, M. 2022. "Chicago Schools Bus Woes Continue with Long Commutes for 365 Students with Disabilities." *Chalkbeat Chicago*, August 24. https://chicago.chalkbeat.org/2022/8/24/23320764/ chicago-public-schools-transportation-problems-bus-driverpedro-martinez.
- Voulgaris, C.T., M.J. Smart, and B.D. Taylor. 2019. "Tired of Commuting? Relationships among Journeys to School, Sleep, and Exercise among American Teenagers." *Journal of Planning Education and Research* 39 (2): 142–54. https://doi-org.dist.lib.usu. edu/10.1177/0739456X17725148.
- Morello-Frosch, R., and B.M. Jesdale. 2006. "Separate and Unequal: Residential Segregation and Estimated Cancer Risks Associated with Ambient Air Toxics in U.S. Metropolitan Areas." *Environmental Health Perspectives* 114 (3): 386–93. https:// doi.org/10.1289/ehp.8500.
- 22. Konkel, L. 2015. "Racial and Ethnic Disparities in Research Studies: The Challenge of Creating More Diverse Cohorts." *Environmental Health Perspectives* 123 (12): A297–A302. https://doi.org/10.1289/ ehp.123-A297.
- 23. Sawyer, I. 2022. "Child Labor and Human Rights Violations in the Mining Industry of the Democratic Republic of Congo: Testimony of Ida Sawyer at the Tom Lantos Human Rights Commission." Human Rights Watch, July 14. https://www.hrw. org/news/2022/07/14/child-labor-and-human-rights-violationsmining-industry-democratic-republic-congo.
- 24. Sainato, M. 2023. "We Were Not Consulted': Native Americans Fight Lithium Mine on Site of 1865 Massacre." *Guardian*, October 13. https://www.theguardian.com/us-news/2023/ oct/13/native-americans-1865-massacre-lithium-mine-thackerpass#:~:text=Lithium%20mining%20operations%20in%20 Chile,try%20to%20stop%20the%20project.

- Owen, J.R., D. Kemp, A.M. Lechner, J. Harris, R. Zhang, and É. Lèbre. 2022. "Energy Transition Minerals and Their Intersection with Land-Connected Peoples." *Nature*, December 1. https://www. nature.com/articles/s41893-022-00994-6.
- 26. IHRB (Institute for Human Rights and Business). 2022. "What Is Free, Prior and Informed Consent (FPIC)?" Institute for Human Rights and Business, December 13. https://www.ihrb.org/explainers/what-is-free-prior-and-informed-consent-fpic.
- 27. Campbell-Stephens, R.M. 2021. *Educational Leadership and the Global Majority: Decolonising Narratives*. London: Springer Nature.
- Siegler, K. 2023. "Western Tribes' Last-Ditch Effort to Stall a Large Lithium Mine in Nevada." National Public Radio, June 28. https:// www.npr.org/2023/06/28/1184812267/western-tribes-last-ditcheffort-to-stall-a-large-lithium-mine-in-nevada.
- 29. GBA (Global Battery Alliance). n.d. "GBA Battery Passport." https:// www.globalbattery.org/battery-passport/.
- OCR (Office of Civil Rights). 2023a. "The Civil Rights of Students with Hidden Disabilities and Section 504." US Department of Education, July 21. https://www2.ed.gov/about/offices/list/ocr/docs/ hq5269.html.
- 31. OCR. 2023b. "Protecting Students with Disabilities: Frequently Asked Questions about Section 504 and the Education of Children with Disabilities." US Department of Education, July 18. https://www2.ed.gov/about/offices/list/ocr/504faq. html#introduction.
- O'Neil, J., B.D. Hoffman, and Council on Injury, Violence, and Poison Prevention. 2018. "School Bus Transportation of Children with Special Health Care Needs." *Pediatrics* 141 (5): e20180513. https:// doi.org/10.1542/peds.2018-0513.
- OSERS (Office of Special Education and Rehabilitative Services).
 2000. "A Guide to the Individualized Education Program." US Department of Education, July. https://www2.ed.gov/parents/needs/speced/iepguide/iepguide.pdf.
- 34. DRA (Disability Rights Advocates). 2023. "*M.F. v. NYC Department of Education.*" April 21. https://dralegal.org/case/m-f-v-new-york-city-department-of-education/.
- Alfonseca, K. 2023. "After Disabled 6-Year-Old Dies on Bus Ride to School, Parents Speak Out about Safety Concerns." ABC News, August 4. https://abcnews.go.com/US/after-disabled-6-year-diesbus-ride-school/story?id=101956728.
- 36. New York State Assembly. 2022. "Summary of Recommended Changes to the Executive Budget State Fiscal Year 2022–23." https://nyassembly.gov/Reports/WAM/2022summary_ changes/2022summary.pdf.
- 37. Smith, L.T. 2012. *Decolonizing Methodologies: Research and Indigenous Peoples*, 2nd ed. London: Zed.
- Collins, P.H. 2000. Black Feminist Thought: Knowledge, Consciousness, and the Politics of Empowerment, 2nd ed. New York: Routledge.

- Brown, C.T., and A. Curran. 2023. "Electric School Bus Initiative Advocacy Stakeholder Analysis: A Baseline Report." World Resources Institute, July. https://www.wri.org/research/electricschool-bus-initiative-advocacy-stakeholder-analysis-baselinereport.
- 40. Lincoln, M. 2015. "State Officials: Majority of Kaka'ako Homeless Are COFA Migrants." *Hawaii News Now*, May 13. https://www. hawaiinewsnow.com/story/29049224/state-officials-majority-ofkakaako-homeless-are-cofa-migrants.
- HUD (US Department of Housing and Urban Development). 2023. "Fact Sheet: 2023 Annual Homelessness Assessment Report, Key Findings from the Point-in-Time Counts." https://www.hud.gov/ sites/dfiles/PA/documents/Fact_Sheet_Summarized_Findings. pdf.
- 42. Rogers, E. 1962. *Diffusion of Innovations*. New York: Free Press of Glencoe.
- NADTC (National Aging and Disability Transportation Center).
 2023. "ADA and Paratransit." Federal Transit Administration. https://www.nadtc.org/about/transportation-aging-disability/adaand-paratransit/.
- 44. Venkataram, P.S., J.A. Flynn, G. Circella, and D. Sperling. 2023. "Challenges Faced by People with Disabilities in Public and Active Transportation Systems in the United States of America." University of California, Davis: 3 Revolutions Future Mobility Program. http://dx.doi.org/10.7922/G2HX1B17 Retrieved from https://escholarship.org/uc/item/1jc653r5.
- 45. Brown, C.T., and A. Curran. 2023. "Electric School Bus Initiative Advocacy Stakeholder Analysis: A Baseline Report." World Resources Institute, July. https://www.wri.org/research/electricschool-bus-initiative-advocacy-stakeholder-analysis-baselinereport.
- Ekbatani, T. 2024. "A Smoother, Quieter Ride for Students with Special Needs." School Transportation News (STN) 34 (1) (January). https://content.yudu.com/web/1qiu9/0A1rp8i/jan24/html/index. html?page=18&origin=reader.
- 47. US Access Board. 2023. "Design Recommendations for Accessible Electric Vehicle Charging Stations." July 17. https://www.access-board.gov/tad/ev/.
- Levinson, M., and A. Achury. 2024. "Clearinghouse: Electric School Bus Funding and Financing Opportunities." World Resources Institute, January 12. https://electricschoolbusinitiative.org/clearinghouse-electric-school-bus-funding-and-financing-opportunities.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The research team would like to express sincere gratitude to everyone who has contributed to this paper. Your views and visions were invaluable. Thank you for your time, talent, and tenderness throughout this process.

This publication was made possible thanks to the support of the Bezos Earth Fund, which provides funding for the Electric School Bus Initiative. The authors wish to thank the many people who offered their time and expertise to review and provide comments on the many iterations of this paper. Collaborators who provided invaluable insights and expertise include Alejandra Achury, Emmett Werthmann, and Vishant Kothari. Internal reviewers who provided comments on the first manuscript draft include Amy Todd, Brian Zepka, Brittany Barrett, Carla Walker, Elizabeth Moses, Greggory Kresge, Jesse Worker, Katherine Roboff, Natalia Akopian, Sebastian Castellanos, Sophie Young, Stephanie Ly, and Sue Gander. The authors are equally grateful for those who reviewed this published document. Internal reviewers who provided helpful guidance include Amy Todd, Carla Walker, Carlos Muñoz-Peña, Justyn Huckleberry, Katherine Roboff, Meredith Epstein, Natalie Elwell, Sarah Huckins, Simone Athayde, and Sue Gander. External reviewers who provided invaluable insights include Carol Tyson, Sahana Godbole Chaudhuri, and Tinuke Abayomi-Paul. We also thank Carla Walker and Sue Gander for their leadership throughout the process, Brian Zepka for their generous support in editing, Kate Archambault for finance and operations support, Shannon Collins for graphic and layout support, Romain Warnault for publication coordination, and Renee Pineda for shepherding the review process. The authors would like to express their deepest gratitude to our editor, Sophie Young, whose research support, insightful feedback, and meticulous editing greatly enhanced the quality of this work.

ABOUT THE AUTHORS

Lead collaborator and coauthor

Justice Shorter is an expert on issues at the intersection of race, disability, gender, climate, and crises. Shorter is the former National Disaster Protection Advisor for America's Protection & Advocacy System and has served as a Disability Integration Advisor with the US Federal Emergency Management Agency, deploying frequently to disaster areas across the United States and its territories. She has cocreated a celebrated framework for applying disability justice approaches to disaster and humanitarian assistance, a crisis management method that acknowledges histories of harm, centers intersectionality, and prioritizes leadership by Black, Indigenous, and People of Color with disabilities. Shorter recently formed SeededGround, a content-creation and consulting firm. Her work is lovingly wedded to bringing disabled dreams to fruition and is rooted in a long lineage of BIPOC dreamers, artists, facilitators, teachers, and advocates.

Coauthor and researcher

Valerie Novack is a disability rights advocate and disability policy researcher. Novack is a researcher focusing on negative and discriminatory outcomes of policies and procedures in housing, transportation, public access, and emergency management. Novack has partnered with nonprofits, academic institutions, and governmental agencies to create common practices and legislative goals that increase safety, access, and equity for people with disabilities in the United States.

Coauthor and researcher

Alyssa Curran is an E-Mobility Financial Solutions and Equity Research Associate with World Resources Institute's Electric School Bus (ESB) Initiative. In this role, she concentrates on areas of funding and financing, and equity and justice research and engagement. Her work supports the advancement of the equitable transition to electric school buses.

ABOUT WRI

World Resources Institute is a global research organization that turns big ideas into action at the nexus of environment, economic opportunity, and human well-being.

Our challenge

Natural resources are at the foundation of economic opportunity and human well-being. But today, we are depleting Earth's resources at rates that are not sustainable, endangering economies and people's lives. People depend on clean water, fertile land, healthy forests, and a stable climate. Livable cities and clean energy are essential for a sustainable planet. We must address these urgent, global challenges this decade.

Our vision

We envision an equitable and prosperous planet driven by the wise management of natural resources. We aspire to create a world where the actions of government, business, and communities combine to eliminate poverty and sustain the natural environment for all people.

Our approach

COUNT IT

We start with data. We conduct independent research and draw on the latest technology to develop new insights and recommendations. Our rigorous analysis identifies risks, unveils opportunities, and informs smart strategies. We focus our efforts on influential and emerging economies where the future of sustainability will be determined.

CHANGE IT

We use our research to influence government policies, business strategies, and civil society action. We test projects with communities, companies, and government agencies to build a strong evidence base. Then, we work with partners to deliver change on the ground that alleviates poverty and strengthens society. We hold ourselves accountable to ensure our outcomes will be bold and enduring.

SCALE IT

We don't think small. Once tested, we work with partners to adopt and expand our efforts regionally and globally. We engage with decision-makers to carry out our ideas and elevate our impact. We measure success through government and business actions that improve people's lives and sustain a healthy environment.

ABOUT ELECTRIC SCHOOL BUS INITIATIVE

In 2020, WRI was awarded a \$30 million gift by the Bezos Earth Fund to launch the **Electric School Bus Initiative** (ESB Initiative). In collaboration with partners and communities, WRI's ESB Initiative aims to build unstoppable momentum toward the equitable transition of the US school bus fleet to electric by 2030, bringing health, climate, and economic benefits to children and families across the country. The ESB Initiative seeks to engage with the broader constellation of e-bus stakeholders to influence and build on growing electrification momentum by offering technical assistance to school districts, convening industry experts in working groups, collecting data, providing analysis for research dissemination, advocating for policies at the federal and state level, and engaging in a variety of partnerships with environmental, equity, and community organizations.

ABOUT SEEDEDGROUND

SeededGround, formed by Justice Shorter, is an agency devoted to content creation that centers people with disabilities in general and people of color with disabilities in particular. We sow justice and harvest dreams through projects that are imaginative and intersectional. Projects are curated in consideration of community needs, creative capacities, and client requests. Our portfolio is composed of projects that involve accessibility standards and practices, cultural work, advocacy campaigns, cross-movement organizing, multimedia productions, strategic and operational plans, research studies, generative gatherings, and archival efforts. Our work is lovingly wedded to world-building disabled dreams to fruition.

©creative commons ① Copyright 2024 World Resources Institute. This work is licensed under the Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License. To view a copy of the license, visit http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/